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Thursday, February 2, 2006

--- Upon commencing at 8:59 a.m.

MS. SEBALJ:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Kristi Sebalj, and I am Board counsel for this morning and for the next couple of days.  My colleague, David Richmond, is to my left.


Thanks, everyone, for coming today.  My role is to sort of oversee the organization of this morning, obviously not the settlement conference which will -- I think Gail Morrison is in the room or will be in the room, and she will be handling that.


I will set out the history and the context of our being here this morning and talk about scheduling and organization in a minute, but before we do that, I suppose we should all register our appearances.


APPEARANCES:

MR. CASS:  Fred Cass, counsel for the Ontario Power Authority.


MR. LYLE:  Did you want the panel to identify itself?


MS. SEBALJ:  I was going with the parties first, sorry.


MR. ENGLELBERG:  Michael Englelberg, counsel for Hydro One Networks Inc.  I have with me Oded Hubert and Giuliana Rossini, also from Hydro One.


MR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin, consultant to Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Dennis O'Leary, Enbridge Gas Distribution, and to my left is Norm Ryckman.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.


MR. LOKAN:  Andrew Lokan, counsel to the Power Workers' Union.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you, Mr. Lokan.  Anyone else?  All right.  Thank you.  


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

We're here today as a result of a decision that the Board made on Monday of this week, but let me just give you a little bit of context for the proceeding for the record.


The OPA filed its application on November 1st pursuant to sections 25.20 and 25.21 of the Electricity Act.  The Board issued its notice on November 14th.  The notice was published on November 22nd.  

We held the first technical conference on December 8th of 2005.  The OPA undertaking responses were filed on December 14th, 2005.


The proposed issues list was circulated by Board Staff on December 16th, 2005, and there was an Issues Day held on December 20th.  The first procedural order was sent out by the Board, and that set out the approved issues list on December 23rd, 2005.  

A second procedural order setting the dates for additional pre-filed evidence and a date, place, and time for a hearing was sent out on January 17th, 2006.


We had a motion for a settlement conference on January 23rd and an oral hearing of that motion on January 30th to hear the OPA motion.


The Board issued a decision and ordered that all issues on the approved issues list be brought to a settlement conference.  As part of that decision, the Board ordered that settlement proposals advanced by the parties be presented on an issue-by-issue basis rather than as a package.


Additional pre-filed evidence was filed by the OPA - and that is the reason for being here today - on January 23rd.


The settlement conference was scheduled for the afternoon of February 2nd and February 3rd, so today and tomorrow.  This technical conference, of course, being held today was -- the Board ordered that this occur to provide for discovery on the additional OPA pre-filed evidence.


This was issued as part of its decision on the motion, and that was because during the motion concern was expressed that a settlement conference might be premature, since the OPA filed supplementary evidence on January 23rd and there had been no opportunity for discovery on that evidence.


The Board ordered that this scope technical conference be held prior to the settlement conference.


There are some dates subsequent to this that you will receive in Procedural Order No. 4, which is a date for a settlement proposal of February 13th and an oral hearing on the remainder of February 13th and on February 14th.


So this is our second technical conference.  The rules of the game today are a little bit different than the last technical conference in a couple of ways.  First, the questions are restricted to the new evidence that was filed by the OPA.  And, in fact, in rereading the transcript yesterday evening, I'm realizing that it is actually restricted to appendix B, section 3.1, I believe.


Second, if the OPA is not in a position to answer any questions today, we will have to be cognizant of the fact that undertakings will either have to be answered very quickly, or we will have to try to settle our questions and get the best answers we can today.  I'm not sure whether we'll have any undertakings today.  I've reviewed some of the questions that were filed by the parties, but that is something we'll have to be cognizant of.


In terms of scheduling, there is no express time limit that was put on this technical conference, but of course we do have a settlement conference that has to occur on all of the issues today and tomorrow.  For that reason, I suppose we want to be as efficient as possible this morning, so we can move to the settlement conference while, of course, giving the opportunity for everyone to have their questions answered.


As I mentioned, Gail Morrison is going to be the facilitator for the settlement conference, and she will give you more detail on the scheduling for that portion.


I understand that parties wishing to ask questions have or were required to provide questions to the OPA in advance.  So far I've seen questions from Hydro One Networks, Energy Probe, VECC, and Board Staff.  Are there any that I am missing?  I see none. 


I think the order of events will be that the OPA will provide a brief introduction and presentation with respect to the evidence that is the subject of the technical conference, following which all parties can ask questions.


 Board Staff is proposing to go first on the questions, unless there is any objection to that.


I'm looking around the room, and I'm not seeing at least one of the parties who filed questions.  Energy Probe?


MR. HIGGIN:  Not here yet.


MS. SEBALJ:  I'm wondering if they were under the impression we were starting at 9:30.


MR. LYLE:  I don't know.


MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, well.  I guess we go on.


MR. LOKAN:  Can I just ask, are there copies available of the questions that were served in the run-up to this?  I have from two or three of the parties, but not from all of the parties.


MR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  We didn't receive the Board Staff ones.


MS. SEBALJ:  They were sent to all parties yesterday, but let me ‑‑ I will have to get someone to do that for us.  Thanks, David.  


MR. CASS:  Kristi, just while that is happening, I don't think it was the intention of the panel to make any sort of opening presentation.  I'm not sure whether they would be comfortable taking a stab at it, since you have raised it.


MS. SEBALJ:  That's fine.


MR. CASS:  What's the plan?


MS. SEBALJ:  I made an assumption there that I shouldn't have, and I should have asked Mike before I made that statement.  It is obviously a fairly-scoped conference, so we can just steam ahead with the questions, if that is the preference.


MR. LYLE:  That would be good.


MS. SEBALJ:  So maybe -- David is actually chosen to ask the questions for Board Staff, and he just ran out.  So that might have not been the wisest choice of resources for this endeavour, and he probably has a long way to go to do that.  So why don't I start?


Let me find the questions.


MR. HIGGIN:  Energy Probe you were asking about?  


[Mr. MacIntosh enters the hearing room]


MR. CASS:  Perhaps one other thing we might do, Kristi, is two of the witnesses are the same as from the first technical conference but we do have a new witness, and perhaps it would be useful for everyone if the witnesses just began by introducing themselves.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, that is very helpful, Mr. Cass.  Thank you.  Let's go ahead and do that.


MR. CHEE‑ALOY:  Jason Chee‑Aloy, manager of generation development.


MR. LYLE:  Mike Lyle, general counsel.


MR. ALMASSI:  Masoud Almassi, director of commercial and institutional programs, conservation bureau, OPA.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  

Now, another issue that arose:  The Board Staff prepared questions with respect to schedule 2.1, which is the procurement fees.  There aren't a lot of them.  I understand, from Mr. Lyle, that there is someone here who can answer them.  

My question, more broadly, though, is whether there is any objection to asking those questions from the OPA or from anyone else in the room.  It is part of the additional evidence, but it is not part of the order that the Board made as part of its motion.  Are there any objections from any of the parties?


MR. LYLE:  We have no objection to that.


MS. SEBALJ:  I'm waiting for David.


QUESTIONED BY MS. SEBALJ:


MS. SEBALJ:  All right.  First -- then I will proceed first with the registration fees for the proponents in the procurement process.


First question:  How did the OPA determine the fees proposed for supply- and demand-side management/DR proponents?
     MR. CHEE-ALOY:  In June of 2005, the OPA held a four-day stakeholder session to review and to listen to comments with respect to the procurement process which the OPA would undertake in the future.  It also gave stakeholders an opportunity to comment on the 2004 Ontario government RFP’s competitions for clean energy supply, being CES, and renewable energy supply, being RES.
     Resulting from those stakeholder sessions, the OPA did receive several reports - one of those reports was from London Economics - basically summarizing the key points made on those four days with respect to procurement fees but also researching other jurisdictions with respect to the whole entire procurement process, including registration fees.
     MS. SEBALJ:  I note in the evidence that you say that there was, I believe -- I don't want to quote you, but support for the procurement fees in general.  Was there any -- as part of the stakeholding process, was there any objection to the imposition of procurement fees?
     MR. CHEE-ALOY:  No.  During the stakeholding process in July, there was no objection.
     MS. SEBALJ:  And your stakeholding process involved -- can you give me an idea of the types of parties that were involved.  Were they mostly proponents or other parties as well?
     MR. CHEE-ALOY:  No.  It was a cross-section of industry participants and stakeholders representing roughly over 60 entities.
     MS. SEBALJ:  In setting the fees, did the OPA consider whether they may present an unreasonable barrier to entry for some of the participants?
     MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yes, we did.
     MS. SEBALJ:  And what were your conclusions as a result of those considerations?
     MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Well, basically, we reached three main conclusions, or I should say two.  Really, compared to other developmental costs, whether it be demand-side resource but mainly a supply-side resource, registration fees on the order to which we have proposed to levy are quite small, compared to obviously the larger development fees that go into any major capital project.
     The other main reason is, again, back to the London Economics report, the fact that other jurisdictions levy such fees.  And typically developers – namely, with respect to generation but we also see with respect to demand-side - these developers are used to register fees.  

To sum it up, we conclude that it is essentially part of the cost of doing business with respect to developing demand-side and supply-side resources.
     MS. SEBALJ:  Was there any consideration for the sort of cumulative effect of the various fees that proponents incur?  I note a couple of -- the bid security obviously and the costs associated with bid security, market fees, licensing fees, OEB fees.  Was there any of that that went into the analysis?
     MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yes, there was.  And just building on my last answer, it's all an issue about relative costs; namely with respect to anything cost-wise dealing with proposal security.  That's an example of a cost to developing a project that is much larger than registration fees.
     MS. SEBALJ:  I think those are the questions on registration fees.
     In the study prepared for the conservation bureau, the -- I don't know if I'm going to pronounce this part, is it IndEco, or is it I-N-D-E Co study?
     MR. ALMASSI:  IndEco.
     MS. SEBALJ:  IndEco Strategic Consulting Inc.  So I am referring to that now.  Can you please review the overall impact in energy savings that are anticipated if the study plan is implemented.
     MR. ALMASSI:  The answer is, yes, but with some qualifications.  I would like to clarify that the information regarding the cost is strictly a recommendation from the report.  It is not proposed by OPA as yet.  We're still in the process of designing a program.  So the information presented here is strictly a recommendation to us in that particular report.
     Answering your question, in terms of review, yes, that is an integral part of the program, design, and development.
     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  What I’m asking -- you've just given me, I think, an answer to a different question.  So you're suggesting that the costs in the study are not necessarily endorsed by the OPA as of yet.      



MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.      


MR. CASS:  Might I interrupt?  Jason came only because we knew from the advanced warning of the questions that Board Staff had a few questions on the registration fees.  If that subject has been thoroughly canvassed, I wonder if Jason might depart at this time.


MS. SEBALF:  Sure.
     MR. HIGGIN:  Can I just speak to that?  It wasn't on the issues list, but we did have questions.  We didn't pose them because of that, but there are some issues that we would like to canvass on that particular topic.
     So once Board Staff have finished their questions, we would, I think, to be fair, have an opportunity to put those questions.
     MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  Sorry.
     MS. SEBALJ:  Is that acceptable to the OPA?
     MR. LYLE:  Yes.
     MS. SEBALJ:  I'm trying to decide, if Mr. Chee-Aloy has other commitments, whether you want to move to that so we can stay on the theme of procurement fees, and then we will have the opportunity to move to the rest.  If there is anyone else in the room who is contemplating asking any questions, perhaps we can just ask all the questions of 

Mr. Chee-Aloy and then move on.  Is that appropriate?
     MR. LYLE:  That would be good.
     MR. HIGGIN:  That would be fine.
     MR. RICHMOND:  Who was missing questions then?
     MR. HIGGIN:  I was, David.  I have just the Board Staff ones.
     MR. HIGGIN:  Would you like me to put my questions?
     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, that would be good.  Thanks.
     QUESTIONED BY MR. HIGGIN:  


My questions related to fees.  If you could look up Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 2.1, page 3, paragraph 8.
     Now, when you had your consultation, the only demand-side initiative that was on the table at that point - I'm not even sure if it was on the table - was the 100 megawatts procurement ordered by the Minister for including the low income.  Is that correct?  In July.  I'm going back to July.
     MR. LYLE:  I don't believe at that time that directive had been issued.  At that time, the only demand-side procurement was, I believe, the 250 megawatts demand response.
     MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That's correct.  The 250 demand response directive was issued on June 15 of last year.      
MR. HIGGIN:  That's even more where I'm going, because basically you now have that directive for 100 megawatts for low income.  Now you have a -- you have a province-wide demand response coming.
     My concern about the fees is that it will be an obstacle, a major obstacle to not-for-profit low-income groups.  That's what the fee will be.  And therefore, you're diminishing the response that you should be getting from not-for-profit organizations, particularly those that deal with low-income families.
     Therefore, I put it to you - and I want it on the record - that that is an obstacle, and there should be consideration given to waiving those fees for those groups and assisting those groups to make a timely and structured response to your 250-megawatt response, demand-side procurement.
     MR. LYLE:  Roger, we were cognizant of the concern that you have raised, which is why when we structured the fee you will see that there is a significant difference between the amount charged for supply-side procurement processes, as opposed to demand response, and then a lower amount for all other demand-side type of programs.  We believe certainly the $500 level is not going to be a barrier to broad participation in demand-side measures.
     MR. HIGGIN:  So what are you seeking to achieve by putting in the $500?
     MR. CHEE-ALOY:  For a second, let me go back to the July stakeholding effort.  An overwhelming comment we consistently heard was the need to increase lines of communication with respect to the OPA and the procurement process going forward, again, fresh off of the government's 2,500-megawatt CES process and 300-megawatt RES process.  


So one of the things we did to address that was to input a new feature in our process that is different to the government's 2004 procurement processes, that being the one-and-one bidder sessions.  

And with respect to that, linking that to registration fees, essentially the fees act as a screen, if you will, to permit prospective proponents that intend to see the process all the way through to submitting a proposal for evaluation to have a one-on-one session with the OPA to ask specific questions about the relative, respective RFP and to discuss their own proposal in confidence with the OPA.


We believe that process is invaluable, and we believe that process will only add to the efficiency and increase the likelihood of a better outcome per that competitive procurement.


MR. HIGGIN:  Now, a final question on this.  You have cited other examples here of other jurisdictions that have fees.  Now, did you specifically look at Canadian jurisdictions specifically listed here, B.C. Hydro, Hydro Quebec, and I would add Manitoba Hydro, to see whether they have registration fees and whether or not they are applied to not-for-profit and other organizations?  Have you specifically looked at that?


MR. CHEE‑ALOY:  We didn't specifically look to that level of detail.  However, we felt we didn't need to, based upon the report we got back that stipulated, in particular with those Canadian jurisdictions, the fee is uniformly levied across the Board.  So that would suggest that there was no delineation of any sort.


MR. HIGGIN:  Well, I suggest that you recheck that point - and I think that is my final point - that you've got the message, and that is that not-for-profit groups representing low‑income, you should have the right, I believe, and have the authority to waive the fee as appropriate to this so they can participate in the process.  That's where we're coming from.


Thank you.


QUESTIONED BY MR. DINGWALL:
     MR. DINGWALL:  I have one question with regard to the fee.  Brian Dingwall on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


Is it anticipated that the registration fee would apply to generic programs that are expected to have mass market uptake?


MR. CHEE‑ALOY:  Could you ‑‑


MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly.  You're probably wondering what segments I'm talking about.


MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  The mass market program, that would obviously be the proponent.  And I take it under your fee structure the proponent would be someone who would be covered by some form of registration fee.  

But in addition to a proponent in a mass market program, there would also be the market segments to whom the program would be delivered to.  It could either be delivered through any number of different marketing or delivery mechanisms, including the use of social organizations or other entities, or having individual customers take the opportunity to find a way to become eligible for the program.


Is it contemplated that the end-use customers who might seek to participate in a program would have to register, presuming that the proponent is someone else who is registered?


MR. LYLE:  I don't believe so.  The fee is charged against those who participate in a competitive procurement process run by the OPA, and it's for those who are seeking to obtain a procurement contract from the OPA.  So I don't imagine that that is going to mean that that fee would be applicable to end-use customers.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  Are there any questions for Mr. Chee‑Aloy on the procurement fees?  I don't think there are.


MR. CHEE‑ALOY:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  You may go.  So we will continue on with Board Staff questions, and then go in the order anticipated.


QUESTIONED BY MR. RICHMOND:

MR. RICHMOND:  Yes.  If we could turn to -- I would like to turn to the CDM area, and specifically if we could turn to Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 3.1, and the attachment 1.  And I'm looking at the report prepared by IndEco Strategic Consulting.


Looking at the executive summary of that report on page 1 of the document, the study proposes that CDM savings in the low‑income area can be broken into three sectors, social housing, private multi-residential rentals, and private residence.


Reading this, it says the OPA is proposing funding for these three sector initiatives in the amount of $15 million a year for five years for the program costs and $32 million a year for five years for loans.


With that in mind and that expenditure in mind, does the OPA have a view of what sort of energy savings you can anticipate if the program is fully implemented?


MR. ALMASSI:  I responded to this question earlier, but it would be my pleasure to repeat.


I would like to make a clarification that the dollar amounts that are set out in this document are recommendations by IndEco Consulting to OPA, but they are not proposed by OPA and not accepted at this point in time.  That's one clarification.


Second, in response to your question as to what would be the estimated total impact of this program, as presented in the evidence, our target is 100 megawatts for the entire low‑income sector, including the three sectors that you indicated earlier. 


MR. RICHMOND:  So reading -- and thank you, 

Mr. Almassi.  So looking at the report itself, when it indicates in there that they speak of 20 percent savings, you're taking that just as advice to yourself?  You're not embracing that figure, then?


MR. ALMASSI:  The savings, 100 megawatt, are ‑‑ that is in line with the recommendations by IndEco.


What I was indicating was the costs of the program.  And the costs of the program, those are recommended expenditures that would be required by IndEco.


At this point in time, we are in the process of designing the program, and those figures are in the works for us to determine.  So that's why at this point in time we cannot say those are accepted expenditures associated with the program.


MR. RICHMOND:  Okay, thank you.  In the report itself, it speaks of the need for monitoring and measuring and auditing the results.  And have you given thought to that and have you set up any structure to carry that out as of yet?


MR. ALMASSI:  The answer is yes, a very clear yes on that account.  Not only this particular program but all conservation programs will include an integral component for monitoring and verification of the results.  That would be a part of the program design.


As we speak, we are working on a low‑income program design, and that is a part of the procurement.  It would be included in the procurement process.  So the answer is yes, a very clear yes.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  So I'm looking at the actual expenditures referenced in this study.  And taking your point that it is a benchmark only - it's advice to you - does that have an impact ‑‑ do any of those have an impact on the 2006 OPA budget?


MR. ALMASSI:  OPA budget would pertain to the cost of design of the program and not to the expenditures associated with the procurement cost of the program, which is related to the delivery of the program.
     In that sense, no, the answer is; it is taken into account.  It is a part of the 2006 budget submission, the design aspect, but not the procurement and delivery of the program.
     MR. RICHMOND:  So the program, as referenced in the report, looks to be fairly fleshed out.  But do you know of any other expenditures that -- if you did carry it out generally as it was laid out, are there other costs that you know of – and I'm thinking of administration costs or program management costs - that you are aware of for that program?
     MR. ALMASSI:  Administration costs and all other costs, to the extent that we can anticipate and is a part of the design of the program, will be included in the procurement process.  And they will be taken care of as such, but not as a part of the 2006 budget submission.
     MR. RICHMOND:  In the report itself, and as I indicated in the preamble, the expenditures were fairly linear over a five-year period, and, you know, there are $15 million a year for five years and something else for five years, and they look like something like $47 million a year over a five-year period.  And that was the report.
     But then in your documentation, you indicated that -- so that would look like a five-year program.  But then in your - I think it is in Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 3.1, page 4 - you indicate that the savings would be over two years.  So I am a little confused as to that.
     MR. ALMASSI:  The confusion is going back to the point that the report is only a report recommendation to us.  That was not proposed by OPA -- not accepted by OPA.
     So right now we're in the process of the program.  Our intention is, as we have indicated, we would like to do conservation as much as possible, as quickly as possible, and very aggressively.  And we have decided that this program can be implemented in two years instead of five years, and those are the targets, and that is what we are shooting for.
     MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  So if I understand you, then, with respect to the budget, you might have expenditures in '06, and those are already embedded in your budget as we've seen them and the planning program design.  But the actual program delivery costs, they would come, then, to your point in '07 and '08.
     MR. ALMASSI:  Not necessarily.  They would be in '06 as well.  But the point I am trying to make is the delivery costs of the program will be carried through a procurement process, and the costs of the procurement is not a part of 2006 budget.
     MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  That's helpful.  I believe that's the questions -- those are the questions I have on that, on the low-income program.
     If we could turn to the study carried out by Sure Solutions at Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 3.1.  It's attachment 3, and it is a 69-page report.
     Do I understand, then, that this report was done at your request?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.  And we did the report in association with Ontario Hospital Association, so we jointly commissioned that, but OPA carried the cost.
     MR. RICHMOND:  Right.  So with regard to this report and the conclusions in it, is it the OPA's view, then, that the -- this is a good area for CDM, a promising area, then?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.
     MR. RICHMOND:  In terms of that sector itself, though, do you feel this, the MUSH sector, does it rank the top, or in the middle or anything like that that you would want to state? 


MR. ALMASSI:  I cannot make a comment, comparative comment in that respect, hospital versus university, if that is the question, versus -- at this point in time, we are still in the process of doing a study on municipalities, for example, in the MUSH sector.  We are doing a symposium for even hospitals, to do more discovery, and we are still working with colleges and universities.  So I'm not prepared to make a comment in terms of comparing those sectors with each other.
     If the question is whether there is significant enough potential for energy savings in hospitals, the report indicates that, and we believe that.  We believe the potential is significant enough.
     Also, it should be assessed from the point of view of the need of the sector, hospitals, and what they have expressed.  And their interest in conservation is very significant, which is an additional motivation for focussing on this sector.
     MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  So looking at that report, then, would there be a budget impact in '06 vis-à-vis that document?
     MR. ALMASSI:  No.  Doing the report, the hospital report, we have done similar studies, as indicated in the evidence, for colleges.  We are in the process of completing a similar study for municipalities.  These studies are a part of the 2006 submitted budget.  Those are the activities that we have anticipated in light of doing groundwork for anticipated program areas.
     MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  So either regarding that report or any other work, say, in the hospital sector, if there is work to be done, it's already in your budget?  There is no new monies being called for as a result of these documents?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.  Just one clarification.  These are studies, and no program at this point in time being designed or anticipated.  If we were to - and that may be a possibility - to introduce a program for hospitals, once again my answer would be similar to the low-income:  The additional costs will be carried through the procurement process.
     MR. RICHMOND:  Right.  Thank you.  So if there is work to come out of this report or the report done in universities or colleges, I believe, those would either be in procurement or in future budget years.  That's where we would see those dollars, then?
     MR. ALMASSI:  The procurement itself -- I would like to make a clarification.  The procurement itself may happen in 2006, but it does not bear any additional burden on the budget for 2006.
     MR. RICHMOND:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
     MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just ask a few follow-up questions.
     QUESTIONED BY MS. SEBALJ:  


You have indicated that for the IndEco study, the costs that are incurred in 2006 are design costs, rather than procurement costs; correct?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.
     MS. SEBALJ:  I'm just curious to know -- when I look at schedule 3, at the conservation bureau budget by initiative, where it fits in.  Is this under program areas, the $750,000?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.
     MS. SEBALJ:  Do you know what portion of those costs, of the $750,000, how much was spent in 2006 and is anticipated to be spent?
     MR. ALMASSI:  We anticipate the budget would be required for what we need to do in the line of similar work and similar studies that we need to do by different sectors.  That budget is for all sectors, industrial, residential, and commercial.
     MR. LYLE:  Just so we're clear what we're talking about, the 750,000 is related to consulting costs across the program areas.
     MS. SEBALJ:  Right.  So I guess what I'm asking is:  Are the costs associated with the IndEco study in particular?  Do they fit neatly within that area?
     MR. ALMASSI:  Yes, it does.
     MS. SEBALJ:  It does?
     MR. ALMASSI:  Yes.
     MS. SEBALJ:  I was far too broad in my last question.  Narrowly speaking --      


MR. ALMASSI:  With clarification.  That study, indeed, was paid for in 2005.  So the costs of that particular study for hospitals is not a part of the 2006 budget.  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  So the anticipated costs for 2006, they fit neatly within the 750 ‑‑


MR. ALMASSI:  Yes, it would.  The answer is yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Go ahead.


MR. ALMASSI:  Yes.  Just a clarification.  We may undertake -- in 2006, we may undertake pilot projects and also certain studies that are done in association with other parties’ -- major parties' associations in the industry.  If the set of criteria is satisfied for conservation fund to carry out those projects through conservation fund, we consider that, and at times, you know, that will happen.  But strictly speaking, the groundwork, market research, and technical research that would directly relate to programs will be done through the budget that you cited.


MS. SEBALJ:  Do you know how much it will cost for ‑‑ do you have a number for the IndEco study in 2006 for whatever is going to be ‑‑ whatever the next steps are going to be taken in 2006, how much money will be spent for that?


MR. ALMASSI:  The IndEco study is completed, and it was completed in ‑‑ by end of 2005.  Interpreting your question as not the IndEco study but the follow-up to recommendations of the IndEco study, yes, the activities associated with that, so far as they relate to 2006 budget would be program design, and it is incorporated in the project.  But, once again, what is not incorporated is the delivery costs of the program, which will be carried through procurement process.


MS. SEBALJ:  Right.  Do you have a number for me for 2006?


MR. ALMASSI:  For the design aspect?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.


MR. ALMASSI:  Not at this point.  We could take that as an undertaking.


MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.


MR. LYLE:  I'm not sure that we do have a number on that.  I mean, you can see on ‑‑ if you go to Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 3, page 9, the base costs are for the conservation bureau, and that's the costs of the staff dollars for the conservation bureau.  I'm not sure that they have broken out those staff dollars into individual projects, but we will certainly attempt to ascertain and hopefully get back to you tomorrow whether in fact that has taken place.


MS. SEBALJ:  That would be great.  I understand, from your response, then, that everything that is being done in 2006 with respect to the follow-up of the study is being done in-house, which is helpful.


MR. ALMASSI:  Clarification.  Everything, so far as it relates to the design of the program.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Shall we mark that as undertaking number 1?


UNDERTAKING NO. 1:  PROGRAM DESIGN DOLLAR FIGURE FOR

2006 BUDGET.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  My second question was more sort of general.  I'm trying to get a better idea of these two 

-- of the two studies that Mr. Richmond spoke of and the OPA's level of support and intention to move forward with them.  


So my ‑‑ let me give you my impression, and you can correct me if I'm wrong.  My impression is that the IndEco study, though not entirely endorsed by the OPA in terms of the costs, is more advanced than the Sure Solutions study, or you're more ‑‑ your endorsement is clearer for the IndEco than it is for the Sure Solutions program?


MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  Can you give me an idea of the level of certainty that the OPA has as to whether they're moving forward with the IndEco study and the Sure Solutions study?


MR. ALMASSI:  Certainly.  The IndEco study was the groundwork done as preparation for a low‑income program.


We do have a directive from the government, from the Ministry, mandated to introduce a province‑wide low‑income program.  As such, we are, as we speak, in the process of designing that program.  We are using not entirely ‑‑ not the entire material but certainly a good portion of the information in an IndEco study to assist us to design the program.  


When we speak about hospitals, we have done a study to do the groundwork, once again, but at this point in time we do not have a mandate, specifically, to introduce a province‑wide program for hospitals.


If and when we are mandated to do so, we are hoping that we will be prepared to undertake the task.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Those are the Board Staff's questions.


I think ‑‑ people can correct me if I'm wrong, but I think Mr. Englelberg was the first in the order of appearances.


QUESTIONED BY MR. ENGLELBERG:

MR. ENGLELBERG:  Hydro One's first question relates to trying to get some clarity on the scope of this proceeding.  So in that regard, could you confirm to us that the scope of this proceeding does not include recommending or establishing the role for LDCs or funding levels for LDCs regarding the LDCs’ own CDM programs?


MR. LYLE:  It's difficult for us to provide you with clarification of the scope of the issues list, as it was ‑‑ these issues were put on the issues list at the behest of Board Staff, and we did raise some concerns with respect to the breadth of them on the Issues Day back on December 20th.


Having said that, we certainly don't intend in this proceeding and have not in this proceeding brought forth evidence on the appropriate level of spending by LDCs for CDM.


What we have indicated - and we will be relying on as our evidence to address this issue - is that we have undertaken as part of the CDM generic hearing process to do a study, which we will be filing with the Board anticipated in June 2006.


 That study is going to look at a number of things.  If you look to our supplementary evidence, Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 3.1, paragraph 4, we provide there a synopsis of what we've undertaken in the CDM generic hearing to study.


That includes the appropriate future role for LDCs in CDM, whether there should continue to be funding of LDCs CDM programs through distribution rates, and the appropriate level of spending by LDCs on CDM programs in 2007; in addition to that, I think whether -- a recommendation to the Board as to whether or not the Board should impose some sort of level for 2007 on LDCs.


MR. ENGLELBERG:  All right.  I understand, then, that you don't intend to lead any evidence on that and go into that in this particular hearing.  Do you anticipate doing that in any future hearing or any future type of proceeding before the Board?


MR. LYLE:  Well, as I said ‑‑ and can you just clarify for me when you say "that" what exactly you're talking about now?


MR. ENGLELBERG:  Making recommendations or determining what the spending levels should be or the funding levels should be by LDCs regarding their own conservation and demand management programs, as opposed to the CDM programs of the OPA.


MR. LYLE:  Well, we have indicated, as I said to the Board in the CDM generic hearing, that we will in this study that we're hoping to file in June of 2006 make recommendations with respect to the level of CDM spending by LDCs in 2007.


Maybe I can specifically take you to ...

     What we said in our reply submissions dated January 16th, 2005 was that ‑ this is paragraph 4 of our reply submissions - was that: 

“During the course of oral submissions on 

December 22nd, 2005, the OPA was asked for its 

views as to whether the Board or the OPA should 

be setting CDM spending targets to guide 

the LDCs.  The OPA cannot require LDCs to spend 

funds on CDM, but it can and will provide 

guidance and recommendations with regard to 

appropriate levels of CDM spending to the OEB.”

And I will just skip a line.
    
“These recommendations, together with all other 

relevant evidence, can be weighed by the Board in 

the exercise of its jurisdiction to approve or 

fix just and reasonable rates for LDCs.  As

already stated, the OPA's objective is to make 

recommendations regarding 2007 CDM spending by 

LDCs after the conclusion of the study that the 

OPA has undertaken.”

MR. ENGLELBERG:  So do I understand, then, whatever the OPA comes out with would be recommendations only?

MR. LYLE:  That's correct.  The OPA has no authority to order the LDCs to do anything.  And I know that is a question that Mr. Higgins was going to pose later on, but that is the answer to that.
     MR. ENGLELBERG:  One thing I would like to ask you that arises out of that is I think you indicated that you would be making such recommendations for LDCs for 2007.
     MR. LYLE:  That's correct.  



MR. ENGLELBERG:  My understanding is that the LDCs already have board-approved spending plans in this area for 2007.  How do you see the OPA's role measuring with that, given the fact that those levels have already been determined?
     MR. LYLE:  Well, I think, if you read the transcript from the December 22nd generic CDM proceeding, you will see that there was quite a bit of concern expressed, both by certain parties and by the members of the -- the Board members on the panel, as to whether an appropriate level of funding was going to CDM.  And as I've indicated, we are going to look at that in our study.
     MR. ENGLELBERG:  All right.  When the OPA does make those recommendations as to programs and funding levels, will those programs and funding levels be included in the integrated power system plan?  



MR. LYLE:  We do intend to speak in the Integrated Power System plan to the future role of LDCs with respect to CDM.
     We won't be talking about 2007 funding levels, because obviously the Integrated Power System plan is more of a long-term document.
     In addition, the OPA is required by regulation, in developing an Integrated Power System plan, to identify and develop innovative strategies to accelerate the implementation of conservation energy efficiency and demand measurement measures, so we will be speaking to the requirements of that regulation in our Integrated Power System plan.
     MR. ENGLELBERG:  Before the OPA proceeds to make any recommendations for spending or funding levels for the CDM programs of LDCs, does the OPA plan to do any pre-consultation with the LDCs and other parties?
     MR. LYLE:  Yes, we do.  And we indicated in our January 16th submissions that we would consult with LDCs and other stakeholders in developing that study.
     MR. ENGLELBERG:  How would you see that consultation process taking place?
     MR. LYLE:  I can't really comment on that at this point in time because I don't think we have gone so far as to develop exactly how we plan to do that.  Unless ...     
MR. ENGLELBERG:  Does the OPA have any plans for sharing information in advance about its own 2006 and 2007 CDM program and project initiatives so that the LDCs can ensure that there is no duplication with their own program initiatives that they have already planned or have underway for the same period?
     MR. ALMASSI:  We are making every effort currently, as we are in the process of designing our programs, to ensure duplication does not take place.
     Maybe I should provide -- I should talk about an example.  Low-income program is the most advanced program at this point in time in terms of design.  We are working with Social Housing Services, who -- which is an organization that is very much connected to all of the social housing entities and organizations in the province.
     We have also, working with Social Housing Services -- we have also brought all of the LDCs, plans, and anticipated plans for social housing; information have all been channelled through Social Housing Services.  So we're all working together on that. 
      In addition we're also working with NRCan, CMHC, all of the other parties that are potentially doing the work in social housing in the province.
     The intention is the program would be designed in such a way that we would not duplicate.  Instead we would like to complement.  We would like to be able to fill the gaps, to enhance, et cetera.  

So every effort is being made to do that.  And certainly we're going to continue, and we are going to continue to do a lot more in that respect.  That is as a way of an example what the approach is.
      MR. ENGLELBERG:  So is it fair to say, then, you see the OPA's role as filling in the gaps for what the LDCs' CDM programs fail to address, rather the other way around?
     MR. ALMASSI:  The effort is to make sure the conservation bureau has a mandate to ensure if conservation activities are taking place in the market, we would like to encourage that, support that.  If conservation activities and programs for a certain sector or at large are being done by other entities, including LDCs, we would like to encourage that and support that, and certainly we would like to -- anything that is left over, as I said, the voids and the gaps, we would be mandated to fill through a province-wide conservation program.
     MR. ENGLELBERG:  Thank you.  Now, you explained earlier that the OPA budget, which is what I understand the operating budget is -- what we're looking at in this hearing that you see it as, for the design of the programs but not for the procurement and delivery of the programs; is that correct?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.
     MR. ENGLELBERG:  Can you explain how the operating budget and the business plan for the OPA can be approved in advance of information about the programs that the budget and business plan are going to be supporting, even on the design phase only?
     MR. LYLE:  Well, let me speak to that.
     The OPA's authority, under the legislation, is to enter into procurement contracts, and when those procurement contracts result from a government directive or are after the OPA has an approved integrated power system plan and procurement process, the costs of those procurement contracts can be passed through to ratepayers without any need for further OEB approval.  So that is just to set the stage.
     Now, given that we don't yet have an integrated power system plan that has been approved, the conservation bureau is acting to meet a number of directives that have been received from the Minister in 2006.
     In order to carry out those directives, we will be holding several competitive procurement processes.  It is impossible for us to tell you exactly what the outcome of those competitive procurement processes is going to be until we actually run those competitive procurement processes.
     MR. ENGLELBERG:  When, then, do the costs of the design of those programs get to their place in the OPA operating budget?
     MR. LYLE:  Well, maybe I need to clarify a little.  I think what Mr. Almassi said was that design is part of our operating budget.
     What is outside of our operating budget is the amounts of money that we will be paying to the people that we've entered into procurement contracts with in order that they deliver programs that will meet the directives.
     MR. ENGLELBERG:  I think what I'm asking about is the design portion only.  When does the design portion find its way into the OPA budget, in advance of the time that the OPA is aware of what programs it's going to be looking at or designing? 

MR. LYLE:  The design already is in the operating budget for 2006.  We've crafted our operating budget with regard to the three directives that were received, or three programs.  I think there were two actual directives, but with respect to three programs that we received in, I think it was, October of 2005.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Let me just check whether we have any more.  That's all.  Thank you very much.


MR. LYLE:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  I believe Mr. Higgin was next.


QUESTIONED BY MR. HIGGIN:

MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  If you will just refer to our list of questions, I think that question 1 has been substantially answered, and, therefore, I will just pick up a couple of follow-ups as we go through the other material.


So if we could move on to question number 2.  It's pretty well self-explanatory and initially is some timing as to when the terms of reference will be available, and is it your intent to post them and/or get stakeholder input before going out and procuring consultants to perform that work?  Those are the first two questions.


MR. LYLE:  Well, obviously the work for the CDM potential report has to be done quite quickly.  So we would anticipate that the terms of reference would be developed in, I would think, the February/March time period.


MR. ALMASSI:  Yes.


MR. LYLE:  We will post it on our website in order to ‑‑ for consultants who want to participate in the competition; however, we don't intend to stakeholder the terms of reference before we have the competition to select a consultant.


MR. HIGGIN:  So where did you get ‑‑ have you had a stakeholder process to get stakeholder input on the scope of that particular initiative?  It is a very important initiative, as you would agree.


MR. LYLE:  There is going to be a large amount of stakeholding related to the development of the integrated power system plan, and I anticipate that our overall plan for stakeholding in the integrated power system plan is going to roll out some time either in this month or in March, and I think that plan will address where the possibility is for input of stakeholders into our development of the plan.


MR. HIGGIN:  Which plan now are you talking about?


MR. LYLE:  I'm talking about the integrated power system plan, of which the work that is being done on C&DM potential would be a component.


MR. HIGGIN:  So your position is that there is neither time nor willingness to post the terms of reference for the province‑wide potential study for, say, a week, ten days to get stakeholder input?


MR. LYLE:  I think there is a lot of work that needs to be done if we're going to develop an integrated power system plan and to be able to file something as our business plan calls for with the OEB at the end of August.


I think if we are going to start stakeholding on the specific terms of reference of every ‑‑ every time we attempt to procure consulting help in order to assist us in developing the IPSP, it is going to slow us down very significantly.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Right now, going into this, my question number (c) is:  Do you have a best guess in terms of how many gigawatt hours and gigawatt potential in different categories there is?  You must have a guess, a guesstimate.


MR. ALMASSI:  Well, the first response is the question is very much the subject of the study that we talked about earlier.  That's one.  So clearly there is work to be done in order to answer that question for us.


Second, at this point in time, the best estimates that we do have are the assumptions made in the supply mix report that was released.  At this point in time, those are the best assumptions we have, and we will enhance those estimates through this study that we just talked about earlier.


MR. HIGGIN:  Now, just because we don't know what the scope is going to be and we won't have input into it - that's question (d) - can you elaborate as to whether this study will include all of the sectors and include load management and loss reduction?  That's the Coffey & Fisch study.


MR. LYLE:  Sorry, you're talking specifically about the Coffey & Fisch study?


MR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that is specifically to Coffey & Fisch.


MR. ALMASSI:  The study includes all sectors and all types of conservation programs.


We essentially launched a study, which is not a larger study, but it is comprehensive enough for us at this point in time to ensure that we have a good snapshot of all of the initiatives and programs, conservation programs, in effect or about to be introduced by not only LDCs but also municipalities, the cities, and various funds.  And that would cover all sectors and all types of conservation programs.


MR. HIGGIN:  Just to clarify.  It does include load management and, very importantly, loss reduction?


MR. ALMASSI:  Yes, it does.


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Do you have a current estimate of the potential of the current LDC programs, the sort of 15 major programs that are currently underway?  Do you have ‑‑ has the OPA made an assessment from the filings of those LDCs as to what is the potential that is available from those programs?


MR. ALMASSI:  We have not made an assessment, and we are not aware of any release information.  And I believe that that information is most likely to be released to OEB directly, as the plans were, the approved plans.


MR. HIGGIN:  Now, in 2006, one of your milestones, deliverables, is, as you just discussed with Hydro One, a review of the current LDC programs, and so on.


MR. ALMASSI:  Yes.


MR. HIGGIN:  That is a deliverable that has to come to this Board in, estimated, mid-2006.


So then will that be built from the Coffey & Fisch study?  Is that the basis on which you are going to provide that?


MR. ALMASSI:  It would feed into -- the Coffey study would feed into a further study.


As I mentioned, the Coffey & Fisch study is a snapshot of, if you like, an inventory of the conservation programs in effect or anticipated, but clearly there needs to be a further study, and the results of the Coffey & Fisch would actually feed into that.


MR. HIGGIN:  All right.  Now, one of the other major components, in terms of assessing potential, is avoided cost; okay?


So the question, then, is:  Has the OPA developed an estimate or a methodology to estimate avoided cost for C&DM programs of various types?


MR. ALMASSI:  The answer is no, we have not.


MR. HIGGIN:  Are you doing work on that, and who is doing that work?


MR. ALMASSI:  No, we are not doing ‑‑ to the best of my knowledge, we're not doing a study on the avoided costs per se.


I understand there has already been a report, as you know, by ‑‑


MR. HIGGIN:  By Navigant.


MR. ALMASSI:  ‑‑ Navigant, and those are the avoided cost estimates that are being used as a part of the calculations for TRC, for example.  It's a part of the process in that sense.  But if you are asking if we are reconsidering and re-estimating the avoided costs in that sense or any attempt in that light, to the best of my knowledge, we are not.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.


Just to follow up on (f), then.  Mike, I think this is to you.
     MR. LYLE:  Okay.
     MR. HIGGIN:  You made a categorical statement that you have no authority to direct the priorities and levels of spending of LDCs.  However, I noticed in the evidence    that you may get some authority under the auspices of the approval of the ISP.  Right?
     Once that is approved, then that may lead, from that, into some sort of authority.
     MR. LYLE:  No, I don't think so, Roger.  The IPSP would give us the authority to go out and procure in order to meet the goals that are set out in the plan.  That would still be procurement contracts with parties who voluntarily came forward to participate.
     We don't have the authority and would not have the authority after the IPSP to tell a LDC, You shall spend X dollars on CDM.  We don't regulate, unlike the OEB, the LDCs.  So that is not within our scope of our jurisdiction.  
MR. HIGGIN:  So but some of the parties that could come forward in a procurement could be the LDCs?
     MR. LYLE:  Absolutely.
     MR. HIGGIN:  And therefore some of their costs that may be under cost sharing or delivery basis would then come before the OEB as part of their costs of participating in that procurement.
     MR. LYLE:  Well, I mean, obviously that would be up to the OEB to decide whether those costs would be appropriate to pass through to distribution ratepayers.
     I think we would have anticipated that the LDCs would be competing with other potential competitors, and they would be paid in accordance with the contract.  I suppose there could be issues of cross-subsidization would arise, but that would be up to the OEB to address.
     MR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thanks.  Maybe we could move on to question number (3).  Just as a sort of introduction here, we're trying to get a feel -- I think this question has been asked several times several ways.  What is the longer-term outlook for the procurement budgets for -- in this case, I'm looking at the demand-side initiatives, which would include, of course, the 100-megawatt that is currently underway and would include your 250-megawatt procurement.  We're trying to get a feel for what the budgets are going to be and, as you just stated, are going to be passed through to ratepayers, through either OPA fees or another uplift charge or something of that sort.  I'm trying to get -- everybody is looking for the same type of idea globally and what those budgets are.
     MR. LYLE:  So just so that I am clear, you're focussing, then, on the charges line, the actual payments under the contracts themselves?  Is that what you're focussing on?
     MR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Not your development costs or administrative costs, but actually the procurement costs.  What globally are you looking at in terms of budgets and how much per kilowatt hour is it going to cost everybody?  That is what we're looking at.  Everybody has the same question in their mind.  I think it’s just been asked several ways.
     MR. LYLE:  I can understand why you would have that question.  The problem for us is we run a competitive procurement process, and then we pick a winning bid that meets the criteria in the RFP, including price.  And that is what would come out of that process, in order to meet the Minister's directive.
     I'm not sure how we can predict for you what price is going to come out of a competitive procurement process.
     MR. HIGGIN:  Well, you could do estimates around basically don't want to exceed the avoided cost.  So let's start with that and say, okay, that is a good place to start.  How much is that going to be in a 250-megawatt procurement, based on not exceeding the avoided cost?
     MR. ALMASSI:  I would respond by saying if that is the type of information you're looking for, which is a calculation that can be done, but not just by OPA - since the target for low-income program, for example, is announced, is 100-megawatt - it's a simple calculation as to what the avoided costs would be as a ceiling for the costs of the program.
     Having said that, maybe what -- if you are interested, I could share some information as to some of the details of what we are planning for low income.  

The point I would make is that the program will be introduced in phases, not as a whole deal province-wide program tomorrow so we would all be surprised, if you will, even with the results of the procurement.
     The plan is the program to be introduced in phases.  There will be a first phase, and the procurement will be done.  Then a great deal of certainty regarding the costs of the program would be a part of a discovery through the procurement process.
     Then there would be a phase 2, phase 3.  So this is something that will be working -- the information will be channelled and then forwarded to all of the market participants as we go forward.
     So if that is any sense of comfort, that's where we are and that is what our plan is.  But in terms of the ceiling of the things you mentioned, I think that is a simple calculation.  The avoided cost is public knowledge, and our 100-megawatt target for this particular program, as an example, is public knowledge.
     MR. HIGGIN:  Would you like to comment on whether the ceiling is a good or bad idea?
     MR. ALMASSI:  I would like to respond to that.  That is precisely why we do not have a definite figure, because that would be something that would be discovered through the procurement process.  We will find out if, indeed, the ceiling is a good number or whether we should be way below, et cetera.
     It is not a long wait.  The program is on a fast track, and we do have deadlines.
     MR. HIGGIN:  I will move on to question number (4) then.  Now, I am talking here about the low-income program that's been announced, as opposed to the fact there may be more program procurements in the 250 province-wide.  We're just talking about the 100.  

The question I'm having, first of all, is:  How does the design of that program relate to the IndEco study?  Have I got it right that that is a guide to your design for that 100-megawatt procurement?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.
     MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I've got that right.
     Now, the question number (2) is:  Has there been a call for delivery agents; and if not, when will this happen?
     MR. ALMASSI:  I have a submission.  This is material that I would like to speak to, in talking about the initial design of the program, low-income program.  Nothing -- I would like to emphasize that this is work in progress, that there will be changes as we get to the final stages of the program launch.
     So I would like to answer the question in light of us speaking to that. 
     MR. LYLE:  Perhaps we could mark that as an exhibit.  I think you gave away your own copy.
     MR. ALMASSI:  Yes, I think I did.  


[Mr. Cass passes out a document entitled “Social 

Housing Energy Efficiency Program”]
     MS. SEBALJ:  We will mark that as exhibit number 1.
     EXHIBIT NO. 1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED “SOCIAL HOUSING 

ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM”
      MS. SEBALJ:  It’s a Low-income Energy Efficiency Program handout.
     MR. ALMASSI:  I'm looking at the page entitled “Low-Income Energy Efficiency Program.”  It is double-sided.  So the page that has the title “Low-income Energy Efficiency Program.”
     Essentially, as the IndEco report had recommended, we are looking at three sectors: social housing, private rental housing, as well as single-home, and also First Nation communities.
     Given the fact that the social housing is the best defined market among the three at this point in time and also that we are fortunate to have an entity such as Social Housing Services that is already connected with all of the providers in that market, we have decided to give social housing priority as the first phase of the program.  We are working, as we speak, with Social Housing Services in order to develop the program pieces and prepare for procurement of the delivery of the program, but it will be done through Social Housing Services.


It is for practical reasons, and it is also from a cost-effective point of view.  Social Housing Services has tremendous understanding of the social housing market.  They also have a great deal of knowledge of the providers in the social housing, and we will be working ‑‑ we have decided to this standard.  We will be working through Social Housing Services in order to do the procurement for the delivery of the program.


On the other side, the column, the right-hand side column, saying "Program Elements," we have also conceptually divided the areas of energy-saving potential.  

One would be related to the end-use products and those facilities.  The other component is the building itself, improvements to the building envelope.  And the third component is, of course, the awareness, the behaviour, and that is the operational improvements.  That is what is meant.


So in the first phase of the program, which would be 

-- as indicated here, would be introduced in March of this year, we would focus on social housing and also on the products, the reason being.  That's the fastest and the easiest component of the three.  

Simultaneously with that, though, the operational improvement, which is awareness and education, for all changes; those pieces will be developed simultaneously as a part of the program.  In addition to that, monitoring and targeting would be ‑‑ monitoring and verification would be a component.


 Anyway, going back to the point that I made earlier, the first phase of the program limited to social housing and the end-use products will be introduced in March and the procurement will be done.  And that would be not only generating results and getting the ball rolling, so to speak, but it is also a discovery process for us so that we will have better indication of the costs involved, going back to your point regarding avoided cost, how close we are to it and how far we are, et cetera.


So there will be a benefit in that sense.  And the subsequent phases, as we go forward, we will have more information and we will be sharing that with you as we go forward.


On the other page, the social housing program, first phase, just to give you a better idea of some of the activities:  When I keep talking about the design of the program, the components that we are working with, Social Housing Services Corporation at this time is, first of all, approved list of energy-efficient products, whether they're lighting, appliances, et cetera; also program offering, what we would need, conservation bureau OPA would need to offer in order to get the program off the ground and the projects off the ground and also developing the educational pieces.  


Those are the things that are being developed as we speak, and the delivery of all of these pieces will be done through the procurement process.


I might also add, as I mentioned earlier, in this process, through Social Housing Services Corporation, information about LDC programs in social housing market is ‑‑ the information is flowing directly to us and Social Housing Services Corporation.  We are meeting also with NRCan.  We are meeting with CMHC.  I might also indicate that Hydro One already is in partnership with Social Housing Services.  


So, in other words, all of the dots are coming together and we are trying to develop a program that would be inclusive as much as possible.


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  What I would like to do, following up on that, we have no concerns from the conceptual design of the social housing sector, but we do have significant concerns about the rental.


I will try to articulate the concern.  In the social housing program, it's a two‑pronged approach.  One is the building and its equipment envelope and so on, and the other is the in‑suite individual unit measures.  That's a good approach.


You do not appear, in the design in IndEco, to have the second prong for rental units.  You do not seem to have the in‑suite measures.  And those are the ones that would be listed, for example, on page 29 of the IndEco report as applicable to owner‑occupied houses for the appliances, showerheads, the refrigerator replacement, and so on.


When I look at ‑‑ and this is really my question.  It wasn't well-articulated.  I'm trying to articulate it.  Where is that second prong, for the residential rental apartments, the in‑suite?


MR. ALMASSI:  To answer the question -- just one clarification before I answer the question.  The answer to your question is also relevant to social housing.


MR. HIGGIN:  Oh, yes, you have already articulated that, and that is good.


MR. ALMASSI:  Yes.  And I would like to repeat once again IndEco's report is a help to us for the design of the program.  It is not a template that has been accepted at face value.


The program -- what I can say is the program that we are designing by no means is necessarily excluding in-suite improvements.


Second, you referred to private rental.  I would just like to mention that although they have decided that social housing would be the first phase of the program, concurrently we have ‑‑ we are doing the groundwork to prepare ourselves for the private rental market for the second phase.  

As we speak, we have launched two studies, two separate studies, to have a closer look at the low‑income market to better define it and better understand it, which I believe most parties would agree not as much work has been done and we need to do some groundwork.


At the same time, we have also put together a symposium that, incidentally, is taking place today.  I was supposed to be actually at the symposium speaking today, as opposed to being here.  But the symposium really is for low‑income, private.  That's the focus.  

And we have invited a number of industry parties from non‑profit organizations to the actual providers, to other utilities, such as Enbridge, Union, Hydro One, et cetera.  There is a wide spectrum of participants.


And the intention of the symposium today is to understand better what the low ‑‑ private low‑income market is, is all about, what their needs are, and what sort of a program we should design in that market.


MR. HIGGIN:  So I take it from your answer is that you will have both building and in-suite measures for the rental housing program.  That's your design?


MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct, subject to, of course, the design of the program and the cost-effectiveness considerations that we would have to take into account.


MR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  There is always that.  Thank you.  

Now, with respect to question (d), you have added the words "First Nations" on the last box here ‑‑


MR. ALMASSI:  Yes.


MR. HIGGIN:  ‑‑ in your chart.  So, as you know, there are particularly unique challenges there.  You will also know that Hydro One Remote is doing pilot programs planned for this year in some remote communities. 


So, therefore, the question was to try and elaborate what that sub-sector -- what are your plans and timing with respect to that sub-sector?


MR. ALMASSI:  We have just commissioned a study, a consultant.  The name of the consultant is Charles Fox, who used to be a grand chief for 22 communities in Northern Ontario, with tremendous understanding of the First Nation communities.  And the subject of this study is, essentially:  What should the design of a conservation program for the First Nation communities be?  What would be effective?  What would be cost effective?  Essentially, what would also work for the communities?


MR. HIGGIN:  Good.  Because, I mean, we would agree that the IndEco and even the LIEN, low‑income report, is not going to be applicable to that sector.


MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

Thank you, everybody.  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  I'm taking a look at Energy Probe's questions and thinking that while I won't put words in your mouth, but I'm imagining it would take more than a half hour or so.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Depending on the answers, I suppose.


MS. SEBALJ:  Can I suggest we take a mid‑morning break for about 15 minutes?  We will resume at 10:45 a.m.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.

     --- On resuming at 10:50 a.m.


MS. SEBALJ:  I think the order -- there are some questions from other parties, David MacIntosh for Energy Probe who did submit questions, then I believe Brian Dingwall from CME and Peter Scully from Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities.  

So we will start with Mr. MacIntosh.
     QUESTIONED BY MR. MacINTOSH:  


MR. MacINTOSH:  I see that our first question on directives has already been answered and we have a copy of them.
     MR. LYLE:  Yes.  Just let me indicate, Mr. MacIntosh, that all of the directives, with the exception of one update which we needed to -- we're filing today, was already in the evidence, but perhaps not all that easy to find.  So hopefully this is an easier format for some people.
     MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.
     MS. SEBALJ:  Should these be marked?
     MR. LYLE:  I don't think they need to be marked as an exhibit because, as I say, they are already in the evidence already.
     MR. MacINTOSH:  I think that you may have answered quite a bit of our second question in your discussions with Board Staff, but let me just run through it quickly and you can see if there is anything outstanding there.  

“Please identify the consequences of program 

studies, other actions identified in the

supplemental C&DM evidence, separately 

identify consequences that are in existing 

budgets and those that are new.  Even if no 

increases in budgets are required, please 

indicate any reallocation of planned expenses 

resulting from the new evidence.”

     MR. LYLE:  All of the programs, studies, et cetera, that are referenced in the supplemental evidence, with one exception, was work that we anticipated undertaking when we developed the budget.
     The only exception to that is one aspect of the study that we've undertook to do in the CDM generic hearing, and that relates to the appropriate level of spending by LDCs   in 2007.
     So in order to accommodate that aspect of the work, we are going to reallocate some of our consulting dollars.  There's $750,000 set aside for the three sectors in the conservation bureau.  And we will have to make that stretch to cover that additional work as well.
     MR. MacINTOSH:  So that study will be within the $750,000?
     MR. LYLE:  That's correct.
     MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  Turning to fuel-switching:

“Please indicate whether the scope of the proposed fuel-switching program includes biofuels, co-generation, and/or industrial waste heat recovery.”

     We note that the evidence, beginning at the second paragraph of page 5 of 7, indicates that the OPA generation development group is working on co -- which is working on cogen development is participating in the fuel-switching plan development.
      MR. ALMASSI:  I will start by addressing the scope of the study.  

Number one, the study is focussed on residential market, single-home residential, not including multi-residential.  This study does not include biofuel and does not include cogeneration.
     It does not include biofuel because in the single-home residential market the options from the technical point of view and applications are not quite there.  Cogeneration, in the same light, are not as applicable to the single-home market, residential market.
     To be candid about the subject of this study, essentially it is a closer look at the economics of natural gas, fuel for heating, space heating and water heating, in the light of their sensitivity to price changes in the market, both gas and electricity.  It is essentially a sensitivity analysis; that's the scope of this study.
     MR. MacINTOSH:  So it is mainly fuel-switching from electricity to gas?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.
     MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  

Turning to question 4, regarding the proposed energy efficiency program for agricultural producers described in the evidence at section 13 on page 5 of 7: 

“Please indicate any coordination OPA is planning with the feed stop to furnace bioenergy systems for the Ontario Greenhouse Industry Program currently underway at the University of Guelph with the support of the Canadian BioEnergy Association, KMW Energy, Forest Care, agriculture -- AgFood Canada, NRCan, Canadian Forest Service, and the Ontario Centre For Excellence for Energy.”

     MR. ALMASSI:  Allow me first to start by thanking you for bringing this to our attention.  Truth be told, we were not aware of the initiative.  But since you brought it to our attention, we have contacted Andy Gordon, who is running the project.  And we understand the project is at the proposal stage, right at the outset, and we have expressed interest in reviewing the proposal to consider participation in that project.
     The essence of the project is commendable.  It's a project that we would like to bring in the biofuel and carbon sequestration, as well as, I understand, using willow clones as fuel in greenhouses, which is excellent.  So that would be our intention, to review the proposal and potentially participate in it.
     MR. MacINTOSH:  That is very helpful.
     Question number 5, I think Mr. Lyle may have answered some of this: 

“In the evidence presented at section 7, on page 2 of 7, the OPA indicates it is working with LDCs to ensure their access to reliable funding to support the C&DM work of LDCs. Please explain OPA's options for ensuring that LDCs have reliable funding for C&DM work.”

     MR. LYLE:  We believe that the LDCs should play an important role in delivery of C&DM.  We have the ability, as I indicated earlier, to enter into procurement contracts for the delivery of C&DM projects, and we believe that there are -- in many circumstances, LDCs are likely to be best suited to be the delivery agent, and that will obviously depend on the nature of the program.
     As also indicated, we are doing a study, as part of the C&DM generic hearing, where we will also be looking at the future role of LDCs and looking at the appropriate roles for distribution rates as a methodology for recovery of CDM programs as undertaken by LDCs.  


Obviously that would only be recommendations to the OEB.  The OEB would have to decide anything that had an impact on distribution rates.
     MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  As presented in the evidence at section 9 on page 3 of 7:  “Please define the phrase ‘total perceived value’ used by the OPA with respect to C&DM.”  

And from the same section:  “Please identify the other industry participants to be included in the Coffey & Fisch study.”


MR. ALMASSI:  The total perceived value is meant to capture the subjective impressions of consumers and various participants in regards to the program and various tools that are currently available in the market.


As to the second part of the question, other industry participants, that really includes a wide range of agents in the market from ‑‑ I can go through some of the lists: from utilities to federal government, provincial government, associations, special interests and non‑governmental organizations, consultants, suppliers, retailers, contractors, et cetera.


So that is really a full spectrum of the participants.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  Turning to the last paragraph of section 11, which is on page 4: 

“Please provide the OPA's price forecasts for the delivered cost of gas and electricity for the longest future time periods such estimates are available for.”


MR. LYLE:  We don't currently have price forecasts for gas or electricity.  We don't have that capability.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  In section 12, the evidence presents an assumption that “multi‑residential buildings are dwellings for low‑income people.  Please explain the basis for this assumption.”


MR. ALMASSI:  That is clearly a mistake.  That was not meant to be an assumption.  That was not meant to be stated, and I think just the phrase needs to be modified.  By no means we meant to express that or make any such assumptions.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  In section 12, page 4, the evidence states that: 

“The Ontario government has ordered 100 megawatts of savings to be delivered from what OPA describes as the multi-residential private, i.e., private low‑income dwellings.  OPA is proposing programs that will save 10 megawatts in the first year and 90 megawatts in the second year.”


Now, I believe you have addressed this question earlier ‑‑


MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.


MR. MacINTOSH:  ‑‑ as to the difference between the two and the five years.  So I will move on to our last question.  

The IndEco study at attachment 1 of Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 3.1 indicates that: 

“One of the program elements will be to educate social housing and co‑op residents in groups and on one-on-one about closing/opening blinds on summer/winter days, vacuuming, refrigeration coils, washing clothes in cold water, and matching pots and element size on the stove.  Please indicate the savings to be achieved by this education, the method of results monitoring, and the estimated duration of the savings claimed.”


MR. ALMASSI:  Well, I would answer or try to answer the question in two tiers.  

Number one, education is an integral component of, in this case, low‑income program with two purposes.  Number one is, as indicated by IndEco's study, for the savings that it directly generates through operational improvements or behavioural improvements, if you will.  


The second part of that is that when we introduce ‑ and I mean a big "we," not just OPA ‑ in the province, the hope is that the savings would be sustainable and self-sustaining over time.


The education component is primarily targeted at achieving that goal, making sure that those savings are not one‑time events, that they will be self-sustaining.


Having said that, now moving on to the estimation of the savings.  As I mentioned earlier, just the same, monitoring and evaluation, again the approach we have is an integral part of the program design, and all the savings associated with the behavioural changes would be accounted for, as well as the other hard measures.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


QUESTIONED BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning, again.  I just have one brief area I would like to cover, and that is with respect to Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 3.1.


There is reference at page 6, which continues on to page 7, of the development of performance measures to assess how the bureau is doing with respect to its programs.  I note that these are coming up to be developed or introduced at some point later on this year.  Is that something that you're going to be taking to the stakeholders for comment?


MR. ALMASSI:  This is something that we are certainly willing to consider within the context of the time lines that we have, and hopefully to the extent possible, as we, let's say, if you are -- once again, since we have been talking about low income, as we finalize the program components, we are already trying to take as much input as possible of the providers and other participants, especially the providers, the direct participants who will be affected by the program.


So the answer to your question is definitely that is something we would be willing to undertake, any additional step, in ensuring that the input from all parties concerned are brought into the picture.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, just so I understand what the scope of this will be, it looks like you will be filing on an annual basis some analysis of the CDM programs conducted through the bureau.  Does this include solely those programs that are funded through the revenue requirement, or does that include, as well, any programs that come under the auspices of a ministerial directive?


MR. ALMASSI:  Sorry, could you repeat the question?


MR. LYLE:  I think what you're asking is whether or not the program might be something, for instance, that is funded out of the conservation fund and, therefore, out of our operating budget, or whether the program is one for which we have a procurement contract?


MR. DINGWALL:  That's right.


MR. ALMASSI:  Oh.


MR. LYLE:  I think we would be assessing the performance of how we've done in all of the areas of what the conservation bureau does.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is the ‑‑


MR. ALMASSI:  May I make a clarification?  This is something that we talked about in previous technical session.


There is a difference -- somewhat of a difference between the evaluation of conservation fund results versus program results.  Program results, especially the ones that are based on the directives that we have right now, they will be very much based on hard results, megawatts and the targets that we have.


 In conservation fund, the essence of the conservation fund is to initiate pilots and projects that would demonstrate whether we should move forward with certain ideas and proposals and replicate that at large in the market.


So the evaluation of those projects may be what lessons we learn from them, not exactly how much ‑‑ how many kilowatt or kilowatt hours we are saving from those pilots; although if we do, that's very fortunate.  But the evaluation is somewhat different.


We want to learn from those projects and assess whether they should be replicated across the province.

     MR. DINGWALL: Now, you spoke in context of the pilot projects.  When you roll out a pilot project, if it's been successful, is it your intention that that be, then, measured for subsequent effectiveness?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That would be measured for effectiveness for two reasons:  Number one, happy news that we have actually achieved some savings through the pilot, which is a positive thing to have; but more importantly, if the results of the pilot, the savings are up to the expectations, that means we can potentially replicate that in a province-wide program, and that is the intention behind those pilots and the projects in the conservation fund by and large.
     Might I just clarify.  Perhaps maybe the question that you are asking is about after we roll out the program, whatever province we do that.  I have to go back to the comment I made earlier before the break that the monitoring and evaluation of the province-wide programs is an integral part of the program.  There should be no program rolled out of the conservation bureau that does not have that component.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So it is the bureau's intention to be accountable for its programs?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.       
MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Scully.      


QUESTIONED BY MR. SCULLY:  


MR. SCULLY:  Thank you.  Just a follow-up to his point about establishing measurements for the conservation tests you're going to be involved in.
     In that paragraph 15 at Exhibit B, tab 2, page 7, you say that you have already retained the consultants in that connection.  I'm just curious.  Who?
     MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Scully, can you speak more into the microphone?  Thanks.
     MR. SCULLY:  Sorry.
     MR. ALMASSI:  Yes.  We have retained IndEco to help us with the process to put the report together.
     MR. SCULLY:  I just wondered:  Are they retained to set the measurement factors, or will they also be doing the measuring?


MR. ALMASSI:  They will not be doing the measurement.  They will be helping with the organization of the report.
     MR. SCULLY:  So you have a subsequent request for proposals for people who do the measuring; is that the concept?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.  I repeat, that would be a part of the specific programs, and the monitoring and evaluation task would be a part of the procurement for those programs.
     MR. SCULLY:  This is just a little niggling point maybe, but when I look through the Sure report on the hospital area, I had noticed in your materials in one of the directives, which is at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment 3 - that's a June 15th, 2005 directive from the Minister of Energy, Dwight Duncan - one of the -- included in that directive was a direction to negotiate a contract with The Sudbury District Hospital as a cogeneration project.
     I didn't see any mention of that Sure report.  Did you forget to tell him about that?
     MR. LYLE:  Just so that we're clear, the reference there is to the early movers directive, and that is actually -- it's not the hospital itself that is the owner of the project.  It is a company called Tormont.
     MR. SCULLY:  I see.
     MR. LYLE:  It is not a demand-side measure.  It is a generating plant.
     MR. SCULLY:  Generating plant?
     MR. LYLE:  Yes, right.
     MR. SCULLY:  Okay.  Again, this is a small point, but I just wanted to know if I was missing something.
     In your supplementary evidence at Exhibit B, tab 2, page 4, in that first dot there, you say:  

“It is also working directly with the LDCs to coordinate efforts for the upcoming province-wide consumer education and incentive program.”

     When I read that, I had the feeling that the "the" should be capitalized perhaps.  Is there some comprehensive province-wide program?  Or are you just talking in general terms?  You know the LDCs are doing things, you know everybody is doing something, or is there going to be a kick-off day on April 1st or something?
     MR. ALMASSI:  This is not in the spirit of a generalist statement.  As we speak, that program is in the process of being designed.  We are well into negotiations with EDA and, in turn, with the key LDCs to initiate a program where it would be primarily implemented through EDA.  So these are very concrete steps that are being taken to introduce a program.
     MR. SCULLY:  This is something that didn't really come up in your supplementary filing, but in your introduction to and summary of the submission, Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 1, on the first page you re-filed that in this submission.
     I'm looking at paragraph number 2:  

“There are other costs related to the OPA's activities that are not within the scope of this proceeding.  Payments made by the OPA under contracts for the procurement of supply, capacity demand management, or demand reduction will be recovered through OPA charges, rather than fees.”

     I just don't understand what is going to be going on there.  We're involved in this hearing with your budget, which is $36 million, and I am concerned that what you're talking about in that paragraph may be $100 million and that that will be charges to the consumers of Ontario.  I just don't know what the mechanics are.
     MR. LYLE:  Well, let me try to help you.  This is something that we have discussed in our pre-filed evidence, and we also discussed it at the December 8th technical conference.  

But the way the statute is set up is that the OPA has authority to enter into procurement contracts, and where it enters into a procurement contract for either supply or capacity or demand-side measures of some sort - and it enters into that contract after there's been a Minister's directive - then the statute provides that the costs of those contracts, the payments under those contracts are passed through to ratepayers.
     MR. SCULLY:  Okay.  In this proceeding, we've got 6 million and some dollars of those costs; is that correct?
     MR. LYLE:  No.  That is a different set of costs.  Those are the costs that were incurred by the Ministry of Energy and the OFA in running procurement processes which led to the CES contracts, the Bruce contract, and the RES 1 and RES 2 contracts.  Then under the statute they're entitled to give us a bill for those amounts, and we are required to pay that bill.
     As I say, it is really -- what we're really looking at, in terms of the charges, is there's a number of existing contracts that were passed to us by the government, and those include the gas CES contracts, the Loblaws DR contract, and there is, I think, about 19 RES 1 and RES 2 contracts for renewable energy projects, and there is also the Bruce contract.  And all of those, we're required to make payments to the counter-party in accordance with the terms of the contract, and then those payments are passed through to ratepayers.


Then, additionally, the further contracts that the OPA then enters into, the costs are also passed through to ratepayers.


MR. SCULLY:  Okay.  What are the mechanics?  How do you get those charges through to the consumers?  The OEB isn't going to approve them.  How do you get them on the bill?


MR. LYLE:  Well, it's settled through the IESO settlement system.  So we provide information to the IESO, which then passes those costs through as part of its settlement system.


MR. SCULLY:  So it's just going to ‑‑


MR. LYLE:  It is an adjustment as part of the global adjustments.


MR. SCULLY:  Okay.  So it will just get tucked away somewhere in the cost of electricity to the consumer?


MR. LYLE:  Well, I don't know if I would characterize it as being tucked away.  I think it will be quite significant, so I don't ...

     MR. SCULLY:  Well, I'm just wondering about where is the public forum for examination of those charges?  I just don't see one right now.


MR. LYLE:  Well, as government policy, they decided that legislation would provide that they could direct the OPA to enter into those contracts, direct the OPA to undertake a variety of procurement processes in accordance with the package that we just handed out to you, and then subsequently we are coming forward this year with the integrated power system plan, which will talk about system goals; and once the IPSP is approved and a procurement process is approved, then the OPA can proceed to act in accordance with the procurement process and the approved IPSP to enter into further procurement contracts to meet the goals of the IPSP.


MR. SCULLY:  Well, do you have any figure to tell us now about how much you've accumulated of this type of charge?


MR. LYLE:  The only ones that are live right now ‑‑ because the payments don't kick in until generally the plant is actually built.  So I believe there's a couple of small renewables.  There's also the Bruce.  So I could probably undertake to try to get you that information, at least as we have it up to this point in time.


MR. SCULLY:  Well, I would find that interesting and helpful, and if there is any estimate of what you might see accumulating until you get to the IPSP ‑- is that the right acronym?


MR. LYLE:  Yes.  That is not an estimate that we have.  The contracts, in part, are based on a number of variables, including the spot price of electricity, and so that is not an estimate that we would have.


MR. CASS:  Peter, you appreciate, I'm sure, that there is not much we can do about these numbers in this proceeding.  This is the statutory scheme as has been established by the legislature, but those are really beyond the scope of this proceeding.


MR. SCULLY:  I appreciate that.  It's just that unless we get a feel for those figures, we can't say anything to the government about them in any forum, and this just seemed to be an opportunity.  But I am happy with the undertaking that's been given.


MR. LYLE:  Just let me provide a caveat to that.  I will have to make sure that given the fact that there is such a small number of contracts that are currently live, I will have to make sure that there is no issue around that answer to undertaking, disclosing any confidential information that we're not entitled to disclose, but subject to that.


MS. SEBALJ:  So we can call that undertaking number 2, but can someone sort of characterize it for the record?


MR. LYLE:  Well, let me give it a try.  We will undertake to provide the payments that have been made to date under procurement contracts to which the OPA is a counter-party.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.


MR. LYLE:  Is that fair?


MR. SCULLY:  That's fine, yes.  


UNDERTAKING NO. 2:  PAYMENTS MADE TO DATE UNDER 

PROCUREMENT CONTRACTS TO WHICH OPA IS A COUNTER-PARTY.
MR. SCULLY:  Those are all of my questions.


MS. SEBALJ:  I believe that Board Staff has a few follow-up questions coming out of the questions that were asked, and I am not sure whether any other parties do.


Mr. Richmond will ask those.


QUESTIONED BY MR. RICHMOND:

 MR. RICHMOND:  Yes, I will try to be brief.  I just have a few, and they're really more of a clarification.


I would like to turn back to the social housing program.  I know we have had many questions on that, including some by myself, but if we could just go back for clarity.


I believe what was said was that as this program impacts this '06 budget, the monies in it were really a program design, and they were already baked into the budget.  I believe that answer was given.


MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Now, I think there was also, perhaps, some discussion of ‑‑ I apologize for not being clear on it, Mr. Lyle, but there may be some procurement done in '06.  And, if so, that is not part of the budget, because it is not part of the operating budget.  


MR. LYLE:  Let me just be clear on what you mean by “procurement.”  The costs of actually running procurement processes are part of our operating budget.


MR. RICHMOND:  Right.  And those are in.


MR. LYLE:  The costs that flow from the contracts, once the procurement has been completed, are not part of our budget.


MR. RICHMOND:  Right.  That was my question, yes.


Now, given that and given the fact that the program as laid out in the IndEco study was five years and you have indicated you have compressed it into two years, it seems to me, looking at some of those funds, which I would think would be operating funds - that were loan support - would they be in the '06 budget or are they in the '07 budget, then?  Do you envisage that?


MR. ALMASSI:  The budget for supporting the program in 2006 is already anticipated in the budget, anything outside of the scope of the procurement.  And the same thing would apply, I presume, for the subsequent year; although, I cannot make a comment on that.


But, essentially, the concept is that once we procure for delivery of the program, to the extent possible all costs associated with that would be a part of the procurement and inclusive in the procurement.


But you are right that we need to provide some support, and that has been anticipated in the budget.  This is program design and after the design is completed, some continuous support for the program that has been procured.


MR. LYLE:  Just so that we're clear, I don't think any decisions have been made yet as to whether the loan-support approach is the way to go.  That is still an issue for program design.


MR. RICHMOND:  Right.  That was my question, because the program, as laid out by the consultant, mentioned specific numbers, $5 or $6 million a year.


So if that were being done, those funds would, seem to me, to be operating funds.  And if you were going to do that in '06, they would be, then -- therefore need to be in the '06 budget.


MR. LYLE:  Well, I am not quite sure what specifically you are referring to.  It really depends on the nature of the program design, whether they would be operating budget or whether they would be monies that are flowing under the terms of a procurement contract.


MR. RICHMOND:  Well, perhaps I will just leave it at that.  I'm just quoting the actual description of the program that is laid out by your consultant.


MR. ALMASSI:  I would like to repeat, once again, it would be very candid to provide program design information as they develop, but IndEco's study is purely a study, as a help to program design.  So the assertions in that report are not OPA's and conservation bureau's positions.


MR. RICHMOND:  Okay, thank you.  

I have a follow‑up question to the Energy Probe Question No. 5, actually.  In that question, Mr. MacIntosh indicated -- there's a phrase used "access to reliable funding for LDCs."


Mr. Lyle did answer that, and I think part of the answer referred to a study that is going to be carried out, and that was subject of the CDM generic hearing, and that would provide an answer to that question.


MR. LYLE:  The study -- I think we talked about where the study is going to look at ‑‑ it's going to look at the future role of LDCs.  It's going to look at whether, in the view of the OPA, the delivery channel of paying for the LDC CDM programs through distribution rates is a design element that should be retained going forward.  And it would look at a recommendation around the level of spending by LDCs on CDM for 2007.
     MR. RICHMOND:  Right.  Thank you.  I guess my view - and you can correct me - would be that the question that would need to be answered there, then, is are some of those programs that heretofore have been provided by the LDCs -- is it better to fund those through rate revenues -- or is it better to fund those through rate revenues, or is it better to fund those through OPA procurement monies?
     I guess that is the question that I would see being answered.
     MR. LYLE:  Well, that is one of the issues that we're going to look at.  We're going to look at it in the context, though, of looking at are there circumstances where having locally-designed programs from the bottom up, as opposed to coming from the OPA from the top down, might be beneficial.
     And -- I will leave it at that.
     MR. RICHMOND:  Right.  Thank you.  That's helpful.  

My last question is also a follow-on from a question posed by Mr. MacIntosh's question number 7.  We were talking about -- and I believe it was a question regarding what is your projection on electricity prices and gas prices.  I believe the premise to that would be fuel-switching.
     I think your answer was you don't have those forecasts at present.
     MR. LYLE:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. RICHMOND:  If that's the case, if you don't have those forecasts, then how would you make the determination on when fuel-switching would be a useful exercise, then?
     MR. ALMASSI:  This study, as I mentioned earlier, is a sensitivity study.  Basically, it's looking at how the economics of natural gas for space and water heating and residential sector strictly would be affected by fluctuations in the price of electricity and gas.
It is not to determine either forecast or determine the prices, et cetera.  It is really a discovery study, in that sense.
     MR. RICHMOND:  If I could just ask one further follow-on from that.  Given, then, you wouldn't be -- I take it your point is that you don't require price forecasts to carry out the work you've done vis-à-vis the fuel-switching?
     MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.
     MR. RICHMOND:  You did indicate you didn't have that forecast, and I would just ask for clarification.  I thought the forecast of prices was used in the supply mix.  So if you could just clarify that.
     MR. ALMASSI:  Well, I would like to respond by, first of all, I think, those are different types of forecasts that we are talking about in supply mix.  

Second, OPA at this point in time is not set up for forecasting electricity or any other type of prices.  The forecasting function is not in effect.  And that is not to say that for the purposes of assumptions OPA will not use other forecasts as need be and seen appropriate.  That would also apply to the report that we are doing.  

If the analysis requires some realistic forecasts of the prices, again for the sake of this study, as an assumption they may be used in this study.  But we're not in the business of forecasting at this point in time.
     MR. RICHMOND:  All right.  I will leave it at that.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
     MS. SEBALJ:  Are there any other questions from any other parties as follow-up?
     MR. ENGLELBERG:  I have one question.
     QUESTIONED BY MR. ENGLELBERG:  


MR. ENGLELBERG:  Just to clarify something.  I understood from something said earlier this morning that it is only the design portion of the procurement process that is attributed to the operating budget, and the rest of everything is attributed to the procurement itself.
     Just now I understood the answer to one of the questions to have been that the costs of running the process are also part of the operating budget, and only the costs flowing from the actual procurement contracts are not within the operating budget.  

Where exactly is the dividing line between the operating budget and the procurement, and is it design only or is it administering the process as well that is a part of the operating budget?


MR. ALMASSI:  Our operating budget also includes dollars related to running those procurement processes, yes.  We were a little vague earlier on in the day, which is why I tried to correct the record.      


MR. ENGELBERG:  Does that cost of administering the procurement process end once the contracts have been awarded, or do there continue to be costs attributable to running the procurement after the contracts are entered into?
     MR. LYLE:  Well, there is a section of the generation development group which is called contract management which is responsible for the ongoing management of the procurement contracts that the OPA has entered into.
     MR. ENGELBERG:  Is that part of the operating budget?
     MR. LYLE:  It is, yes.
     MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.
     MS. SEBALJ:  Are there any other questions from any parties?
     All right.  Was there any need for the OPA to ...?     
MR. CASS:  No.  Thank you.
     MS. SEBALJ:  Just to wrap up, I suppose, we have two undertakings that I understand the OPA is going to endeavour to answer by tomorrow, but we will see how that goes.
     The purpose of this conference was on discovery on the additional evidence.  Hopefully that will be helpful for the next phase of our day, which is the settlement conference.  

And in terms of scheduling, it is about twenty to 12:00 now.  Can I suggest that we meet back -- is Gail in the room?  Is one o'clock appropriate?  


MS. MORRISON:  It might be useful if we stayed for a few minutes now and did a preliminary and talk a little bit about what we're going to discuss and then people went for lunch.  Then people would have that in their mind while they’re munching on their sandwich or whatever.  I think it would be helpful if we took a few minutes right now to set up.
     MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.  We will close the technical portion, and we will go off the record, and then we will have a chat about set-up of the settlement conference.  

Thanks everyone.
     MR. LYLE:  Thank you.
     MR. ALMASSI:  Thank you.
     --- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 11:45 a.m.  

PAGE  

